
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment

Time and Date
10.00 am on Monday, 7th September, 2015

Place
Diamond Room 2 - Council House

Public business

1. Apologies  

2. Declaration of Interests  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 10)

(a) To agree the minutes of the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise 
and Employment meeting held on 24 August, 2015.

(b) Matters Arising 

4. The Employment Support Service (TESS)  (Pages 11 - 26)

Report of the Executive Director of Place

5. Outstanding Issues  (Pages 27 - 30)

Report of the Executive Director of Resources

6. Any other items of public business which the Cabinet Member decides to 
take as matters of urgency because of the special circumstances 
involved.  

Private Business
Nil

Chris West, Executive Director, Resources, Council House Coventry

Thursday, 27 August 2015

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Suzanne Bennett (Tel. 024 7683 3072).

Membership:-

Councillor K Maton, Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment

Public Document Pack



Page 2

Councillors R Brown and J McNicholas, Deputy Cabinet Members for Business, 
Enterprise and Employment
Councillor G Crookes, Shadow Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR it you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Suzanne Bennett
Telephone: (024) 7683 3072
e-mail: suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 

Employment held at 10.00 am on Monday, 24 August 2015

Present:
Members: Councillor K Maton (Cabinet Member)

Councillor McNicholas (Deputy Cabinet Member 
Councillor G Crookes (Shadow Cabinet Member 

Other Members: Councillor Lakha

Employees (by Directorate):
Place: N. Clews, D. Cockcroft, R. Moon
Resources: S. Bennett, J. Sprayson

Public Business

11. Declaration of Interests 

There were no declarations of interest.

12. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 July, 2015 were signed as a true record. 
There were no matters arising.

13. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

RESOLVED that approval be given to exclude the press and public under 
Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for consideration of the 
private reports indicated below on the grounds that the items involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act, as they contain information relating to the identity, 
financial or business affairs of an organisation (including the authority 
holding that information) and the amount of expenditure proposed to be 
incurred by the Council under a particular contract for the supply of goods 
or services: and that in all circumstances of the cases, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information:-

Minute Number Subject Matter

21 Land Disposal London Road

22 Land Disposal Lower Ford Street and Tower Street

23 Livingstone Road – Terms of Disposal

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

14. 1a Durham Crescent Coventry - Surrender of Lease and Sale of Property 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of Place which 
indicated that 1a Durham Crescent, Coventry is in the freehold ownership of the 
City Council and is subject to a 99 year lease, granted to Abbeyfield UK (who are 
now known as The Abbeyfield Society), at a peppercorn rent, which has 54 years 
unexpired. Until recently, Abbeyfield ran the property as a home for the elderly but 
have closed the home which is now surplus to their requirements and vacant. The 
ground lease from the Council contains a prohibition against the assignment of the 
lease so Abbeyfield is unable to dispose of its ground lease to anyone other than 
the Council.

Abbeyfield have approached the Council seeking to surrender the lease and terms 
have been agreed on the basis of a simultaneous surrender of the lease and sale 
of the freehold interest in the property with the proceeds of the sale being split 
between the Council and Abbeyfield. In order to obtain best consideration for the 
freehold interest, the property will be offered for sale at auction. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:-

(1) Approves the agreement to sell the Council’s freehold interest at 
auction with the proceeds of sale being split between the Council and 
Abbeyfield UK on the basis reported and simultaneously accepts a 
surrender of Abbeyfield ground leasehold interest.

(2) Delegates authority of the Executive Director of Resources to 
complete an Agreement to Surrender, a Deed of Surrender and sale of 
the freehold interest in the property.

15. Proposed Relocation of the Link Extended Learning Centre to the Watcombe
            Centre 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of Place which 
indicated that the Link Extended Learning Centre (ELC) is a Key Stage 4 Pupil 
Referral Unit which is currently located at the former Chace Primary School in 
Willenhall. The Council, as statutory provider, is faced with identifying a suitable 
location for this service from the Chace building, which only has a short life 
remaining.   

A number of alternative locations have been considered for relocation of the 
service, details of which were contained in the report, and the Watcombe Centre, 
Wood End, is the preferred option which has been unoccupied since its vacation in 
2014. The estimated cost of the refurbishment works is £100k, which would be 
met from within the 2015/16 Education Capital programme. The target date for 
completion is 1 November 2015. 

Page 4



– 3 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:-

(1) Approves the relocation of The Link Early Learning Centre to the 
Watcombe Centre with effect from November 2015 and to the bringing 
of the Watcombe Centre into the Educational portfolio of buildings.

(2) Approves the refurbishment/remodelling of the property at an 
estimated cost of £100k, to be funded from the 2015/16 Education 
Capital Programme.

(3) Declares The Link Early Learning Centre site surplus to operational 
requirements and requests officers to dispose of it.  

16. Land Disposal London Road 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of Place which 
indicated that, in partnership with the Homes and Community Agency (HCA) a 
development site was assembled in Coventry, on the corner of London Road, 
junction 4 of the Ring Road and Paradise Street. The site extends to 
approximately 0.97 acres which is owned 0.66 acres (68.04 %) by the HCA and 
0.31 acres (31.96%) by the Council.

Commercial property agents Lambert Smith Hampton were selected by the joint 
land owners to market the site. Originally marketed in 2013 resulting in offers 
which were considered not acceptable, the site was remarketed in 2014 producing 
much stronger financial offers. Owners of the adjoining Elite AXO Student housing 
development produced the highest tender bid for the site. This report sought 
approval to the disposal of the Councils land simultaneously with the HCA land, 
which would see the development of 408 student flats across the whole site and a 
prominent development at an important gateway site to the City Centre.

A corresponding private report, detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 21 below refers). 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:-

(1) Approves the disposal of the Council’s freehold interest in the land in 
accordance with the terms contained in the corresponding private 
report.

(2) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for City Centre and 
Development Services, Executive Director Resources and Assistant 
Director for Legal and Democratic Services as appropriate following 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise & 
Employment to agree any variations or new requirements that are 
deemed necessary to give effect to the proposals.

(3) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources and 
Assistant Director for Legal and Democratic to complete the 

Page 5



– 4 –

necessary legal documentation in this matter and collect the agreed 
consideration.

17. Land Disposal Lower Ford Street and Tower Street 

The Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment considered a 
report of the Executive Director of Place which indicated that the City Council has 
been approached by Coventry University to sell two pieces of land to them. The 
report sought approval to dispose of the freehold interests in the following parcels 
of land:- 

1) 0.064 acres in Lower Ford Street, which is currently used as 12 surface car  
  park spaces 

2) 0.43 acres in Tower Street which was previously used under lease as a 
  service yard by the Royal Mail in conjunction with the adjoining mail centre 
  which the University have recently acquired together with this leasehold 
  which runs for a term of 99 years from the 24th November 1959.  

Coventry University owns the freehold of the land adjoining the sites they are 
seeking to purchase. To aid the development of the combined sites, the University 
is seeking to acquire the Councils freehold interest in the two sites. 

A corresponding private report, detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 22 below refers). 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:-

(1) Approves the granting of negotiations with Coventry University with 
Coventry University for a five year option to acquire part of the Lower 
Ford Street car park (shown on the plan at Appendix 1) at market 
value at the time of transfer subject to a minimum purchase price and 
conditional on planning permission being granted.   

(2) Approves the disposal of the freehold parcel of land at Tower Street to 
Coventry University subject to the existing lease

(3)  Approves the commencement of the process to remove part of the 
land in Lower Ford Street from the City of Coventry (Off Street Parking 
Places) Order 2005 (as amended).

(4) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for City Centre and 
Development Services, Executive Director Resources and Assistant 
Director for Legal and Democratic Services as appropriate following 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise & 
Employment to agree any variations or new requirements that are 
deemed necessary to give effect to the proposals.

(5) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources and 
Assistant Director for Legal and Democratic Services to complete the 
necessary legal documentation in this matter and collect the agreed 
consideration.

Page 6



– 5 –

18. Livingstone Road - Terms of  Disposal 

The Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment considered a 
report of the Executive Director of Place which sought approval to the terms for the 
disposal of the former Foleshill Leisure Centre site at Livingstone Road to be 
developed for a Primary Care Centre and supported social care accommodation.

Authority to negotiate the terms of disposal with Arden Estates Partnership (AEP) 
for these purposes was given at the Cabinet Member Meeting on 1st December 
2014 (Minute 45/14 refers) . AEP is the exclusive developer of NHS Primary Care 
accommodation in Coventry. Authority was also given at the same meeting to 
demolish the former Foleshill Leisure Centre that occupied the site within a budget 
of £360,000. Demolition has been completed and the full cost of demolition will be 
recovered from the receipt arising from disposal.

The former Leisure centre has been re - provided at Centre AT7 and has recently 
celebrated its first anniversary of opening. Usage of the new centre is significantly 
improved on the former centre. 

A corresponding private report, detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 23 below refers). 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and
Employment approves the disposal of the former Foleshill Lesiure Centre 
site in accordance with the terms detailed in the private report submitted. 

19. Outstanding Issues 

The Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment noted a report of 
the Executive Director of Resources that identified those issues which the Cabinet 
Member had requested further reports on. 

20. Any Other Items of Urgent Public Business 

There were no other items of urgent public business.

21. Land Disposal London Road 

Further to Minute 16 above, the Cabinet Member considered a report of the
Executive Director of Place which detailed confidential financial matters in relation 
to the disposal of land on the corner of London Road, junction 4 of the Ring Road 
and Paradise Street.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:
 

(1) Approves the disposal of the Councils freehold interest in the land in 
accordance with the terms contained in the report submitted.

(2) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for City Centre and 
Development Services, Executive Director of Resources and Assistant 

Page 7



– 6 –

Director for Legal and Democratic Services as appropriate following 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise & 
Employment to agree any variations or new requirements that are 
deemed necessary to give effect to the proposals.

(3) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources and 
Assistant Director for Legal and Democratic to complete the 
necessary legal documentation in this matter and collect the agreed 
consideration.

22. Land Disposal Lower Ford Street and Tower Street 

Further to Minute 17 above, the Cabinet Member considered a report of the
Executive Director of Place which detailed confidential financial matters in relation 
to the freehold disposals of parcels of land in Lower Ford Street and Tower Street 
to Coventry University.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment:-

(1) Approves the granting of negotiations with Coventry University for a 
five year option to acquire part of the Lower Ford Street car park 
(shown on the plan at Appendix 1) at market value at the time of 
transfer subject to a minimum purchase price as identified in the 
report submitted and conditional on planning permission being 
granted.   

(2) Approves the disposal of the freehold parcel of land at Tower Street to 
Coventry University in consideration of the sum identified in the 
report submitted (subject to the existing lease)

(3)  Approves the commencement of the process to remove part of the 
land in Lower Ford Street from the City of Coventry (Off Street Parking 
Places) Order 2005 (as amended).

(4) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for City Centre and 
Development Services, Executive Director of Resources and Assistant 
Director for Legal and Democratic Services as appropriate following 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise & 
Employment to agree any variations or new requirements that are 
deemed necessary to give effect to the proposals.

(5) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources and 
Assistant Director for Legal and Democratic Services to complete the 
necessary legal documentation in this matter and collect the agreed 
consideration.

23. Livingstone Road - Terms of Disposal 

Further to Minute 18 above, the Cabinet Member considered a report of the

Page 8



– 7 –

Executive Director of Place which detailed confidential financial matters in relation 
to the disposal of the former Foleshill Leisure Centre site at Livingstone Road to 
be developed for a Primary Care Centre and supported social care 
accommodation. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and 
Employment approves the disposal of the former Foleshill Leisure Centre 
site in accordance with the terms detailed in the report submitted.

24. Any Other Items of Urgent Private Business. 

There were no other items of urgent private business.

(Meeting closed at 10.45 am)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet

Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment 7 September 2015  
Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 16 September 2015
 
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment - Councillor K Maton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Place 

Ward(s) affected:
City-wide

Title: 
The Employment Support Service (TESS) 

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

This report deals with Coventry City Council’s award winning TESS service, which provides a 
supported employment service for people with learning disabilities, autism, physical/sensory 
impairments and people with severe and enduring mental ill health.  The service successfully helps 
people secure permanent employment.

The report provides an analysis of the options to continue delivering supported employment 
provision, following the reduction in Council resources in this area.  The options are:

1.  In partnership with others develop a sustainable model for supported employment delivery in 
Coventry 

2.  Externalise the service through a form of Social Enterprise.
3.  Merge the service with another local authority delivering supported employment provision 
4.  Close the service on 31st December 2015 

It proposes alternative delivery models, recommends efficiencies within the service and outlines 
further activity required to secure the future of supported employment provision in Coventry.  

Recommendations:

It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment:

(1) Recognises and endorses the work undertaken to analyse options, reduce the costs of 
the service and propose a sustainable future for supported employment in the city.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



(2) Endorses the recommendation for the service to continue to operate within the City 
Council and to seek funding from the Clinical Commissioning Group and from within 
the Council to support this option (Option 1)

(3) Notes that externalising the service is not an option at this time due to reasons of 
service structure, additional costs and long term viability. 

(4) Notes that merging the service with another supported employment deliverer is a 
feasible way forward but the current timescales prevent this being an immediate option.

(5) Requests that the City Council fund the service between January to March 2016 to 
allow for the outcome of funding discussions and applications to be known, and to 
consult as appropriate on a detailed delivery model.    

The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) is recommended to note the contents of 
this report and, if appropriate, make comments to the Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise 
and Employment

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 Options Analysis

Background papers:
None

Other useful documents:
None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
Business, Enterprise and Employment Scrutiny Board 3 - 16th September 2015

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No 

Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 12



Report title: The Employment Support Service (TESS) 

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Employment Support Service (TESS) is part of the Economy and Jobs Service, based in 
the Place Directorate. TESS is a nationally recognised award-winning ‘Supported Employment’ 
service for people with learning disabilities, autism, physical/sensory impairments and people 
with severe and enduring mental ill health. It specialises in providing a range of individually 
tailored services to assist people to gain and retain employment, working in partnership with 
employers.

1.2 TESS helps between 25 and 35 customers with severe mental ill health or learning disability 
into work each year and at any one time supports a further 100 plus individuals to sustain their 
jobs.  The service works with Adult Social Care and Coventry & Warwickshire NHS Partnership 
Trust.  Delivery is through the Job Shop and the Pod in Lamb Street. Currently access to the 
service is limited to people eligible to receive support through Adult Social Care and those 
accessing Secondary Mental Health Services in Coventry.

1.3 For those customers with learning disabilities where work support is deemed to be cost 
effective and those with severe mental ill health, the only other employment support services 
they would have access to, are the national programmes – the Work Programme and Work 
Choice. Evidence from various national reviews confirms that this client group are being failed 
by these national services.  Extensive research shows that current mainstream employment 
provision is not meeting the needs of people with learning disabilities, autism or mental health 
ill health. In its recent report The Mentally Healthy Society, the Taskforce on Mental Health in 
Society states that ‘the performance of the Work Programme, the Government’s main welfare 
to work  scheme, has been poor: only 6% of ESA Claimants with a mental health problem as 
their primary condition who have started the Programme have found a sustained job through 
it’. 

1.4 Nationally there is a 30% gap in the employment rate for people with a disability compared to 
the general population and disabled people are 4 times more likely to be out of work.  The 
Coventry Learning Disability Strategy 2014-2017 estimates there to be 5,189 adults with a 
learning disability in Coventry, with a further 6,618 young people with special educational 
needs currently in primary, secondary or special school. In addition, data from ‘Projecting Adult 
Needs and Service Information’ predicts there to be 2,163 people with autism aged 18-64 in 
Coventry.  Based on 2012 estimates, approximately 67,028 people in Coventry aged 16-74 
have a common mental health disorder (Mental Health and Wellbeing Assets and Needs 
Assessment for Coventry and Rugby – March 2015).  Due to the number of people with 
disabilities and mental ill health in Coventry and the low rate of employment likely to prevail for 
these groups, there is a need to continue to provide an employment support service for this 
group.   

1.5 Key performance indicators for Adult Social Care, through the Adult Social Care outcomes 
framework is the proportion of Adults with Learning Disabilities in paid employment and 
Percentage of Adults in contact with secondary mental health services in employment. Not 
continuing to provide a Supported Employment Service would have a direct impact on these 
two indicators that are reported nationally.  

 
1.6 The model of service delivery used by TESS is based on the nationally and internationally 

evidenced based approach of ‘Supported Employment’, which places the emphasis on a 
model of place-train-maintain, providing direct support to get people into meaningful paid 
employment (as opposed to traditional methods of work-readiness which result in people being 
engaged in expensive, long-term work experience and voluntary work as a substitute for real 
work). TESS is also a centre of excellence endorsed by the Centre for Mental Health for its 
delivery of high quality ‘Individual Placement and Support (IPS)’ to assist people with mental 

Page 13

http://base-uk.org/about/about-supported-employment


health difficulties into employment.  These two models share an emphasis on a personalised 
model and promote greater independence, reducing demand for Adult Social Care Resources 
and Secondary Mental Health Services. In addition TESS enables people that would otherwise 
be out of work to gain employment and participate economically in the City. The Launch 
Statement for the West Midlands Combined Authority (6th July 2015) recognises the 
importance of Mental Health through the intention to establish a Commission in Mental Health 
and Public Services.

  
1.7 Budget pressures resulting from exhaustion of one-off funding and the impact of ER/VR within 

the Economy and Jobs Service means that this service can no longer be sustained by council 
resources. Following a review of all business, skills & employment services delivered by 
Economy and Jobs, it was proposed that the TESS service could not be sustained beyond  
31st March 2015.  One-off funding initially from the Clinical Commissioning Group and Public 
Health was then secured to extend the service to 31 December 2015, allowing time for an 
alternative way of delivering and funding the TESS service to be explored.  

1.8 It is worth noting that the TESS service delivers indirect cost reductions in other parts of the 
organisation i.e. adult social care costs and general healthcare provision.  However, it is 
difficult to quantify these savings.  Nevertheless the TESS model reduces the reliance that 
vulnerable people may have on higher cost, formal care services.  Evidence developed in 2010 
as a part of implementation of the Supported Employment Framework for Scotland (produced 
for the Scottish Government by RR Donnelley B62948 2/10) clearly demonstrates the Social 
Return on Investment value to stakeholders of between £2.60 and £5 for every £1 invested. 
http://www.gov.scot/resource/doc/303584/0095164.pdf

1.9 Iain Duncan Smith’s (the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions) latest announcement on 
24th August 2015 focuses attention on the benefits of work on heath, especially for those with a 
disability or mental ill health. In his speech he proclaims ‘We know there remains a gap 
between the employment rate of disabled and non-disabled people. We want to ensure 
everyone has the opportunity to transform their lives for the better by getting into work.’  
http://www.itv.com/news/2015-08-23/iain-duncan-smith-to-announce-further-overhaul-of-
disability-benefits-saying-work-is-good-for-your-health/ 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The Case for Change 

Following budget reductions for the Economy & Jobs Service, there is no longer resource to 
continue TESS beyond December 2015. The financial challenges facing the City Council and 
the Place Directorate has presented an opportunity to consider a more collaborative 
approach to proving employment support with our partners, focused on a more efficient and 
sustainable model of delivery for supported employment in the future.  It addresses the need 
to consider alternative delivery models which provide improved value-for-money, attract grant 
funding and widen accessibility to address unmet need in the city for those with disability and 
common mental health problems.  

2.2 The service has to date focussed on those that meet the eligibility criteria for social care 
operating within narrow restrictions of eligibility and to a degree in isolation from both the 
wider Employment Team & other relevant partners in the city.  A more collaborative and 
inclusive approach is required, embedding the service within wider employment activity in the 
Council and building closer networks with partners plus widening access to employment 
opportunities beyond social care eligibility.  Evidence from BASE (British Association of 
Supported Employment) providers across the country suggests that the most successful 
deliverers are those who work collaboratively with partners, adopt a flexible model of delivery 
and take a partnership approach with employers, which can be provided for TESS through 
the wider Economy & Jobs service.  

Page 14

http://www.gov.scot/resource/doc/303584/0095164.pdf
http://www.itv.com/news/2015-08-23/iain-duncan-smith-to-announce-further-overhaul-of-disability-benefits-saying-work-is-good-for-your-health/
http://www.itv.com/news/2015-08-23/iain-duncan-smith-to-announce-further-overhaul-of-disability-benefits-saying-work-is-good-for-your-health/


2.3 A re-modelled TESS service would gain significant benefit from closer alignment to other 
Council employment services.  This includes closer working with the Employer Hub service, 
so that TESS staff, no longer have to open up employer opportunities through cold-calling 
businesses and access to employment products such as paid placements / apprenticeships / 
internships developed for the benefit of customers with a learning disability or mental ill-
health. The embedding of TESS within these wider services will deliver greater outputs for 
this vulnerable customer group.   

2.4 Over a 3 month period a Service Review has been undertaken for the TESS service, 
specifically analysing the viability and impact of four key options, alongside an assessment of 
efficiencies in service delivery and alternative delivery models.  The review encompassed: 

 Review of current service delivery – operational delivery & key processes, quality, service 
management, financial, performance, partnership working arrangements, current & future 
project plans 

 Data collection & key questions (service-user insight, partner interviews, staff interviews & 
observed practice  / customer satisfaction) 

 Benchmarking – against local, regional & national performance, financial & delivery 
information with other supported employment services & best practice models

 Alignment to other services 

 Impact assessment of alternative delivery options –including  timescales, risk, impact on 
service-users, required resource, equality impact assessment  

2.5 Many other supported employment providers were contacted and two in-depth visits took 
place firstly with a newly formed Community Interest Company (formerly based within 
Maidenhead Local Authority) and secondly with Shropshire Local Authority who have 
developed a range of good practice provision.   

The four key options are as follows:

2.6 Options Analysis

Option 1: In partnership with others develop a sustainable model for supported employment 
delivery in Coventry 

This option seeks to create a city-wide vision for supported employment, developed with 
investment from partners and providing a clearly defined role for the City Council and stakeholders 
in steering future delivery.  Efficiencies in the service can be delivered of approximately £70,000, 
so an ongoing resource of £262,056 is required to support this option. This option gives the 
potential to significantly improve value for money both by serving a wider customer group and by 
delivering more preventative services.  

Securing a sustainable future for supported employment with the on-going investment and 
guidance of partners is the recommended option.  This option also allows the City Council and 
investing partners to modernise the service (which many other supported employment providers 
across the country have done) and develop a pan-disability model of delivery to address unmet 
need.  There are both improvements in performance outcomes and efficiencies to be delivered 
through this option, whilst simultaneously protecting the most vulnerable residents who access this 
service.  It is envisaged that a bi-annual Board of investing partners and stakeholders could 
support the development of this new, more effective delivery model. 

Page 15



Discussions are underway with a range of partners, including the Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Jobcentre Plus and the voluntary sector. The City Councils’ Public Health and Adult Social Care 
are engaged in the development of this option. However, whilst meeting the needs of this 
vulnerable customer group is regarded as crucial by each agency, an on-going budget has not yet 
been secured.  

Informal budget discussions have been held with the Clinical Commissioning Group and a funding 
request will be formalised at the Adult Joint Commissioning Board meeting in late September. 
 A commitment of £150,000-£200,000 for 3 years is being sought. Discussion is taking place with 
Public Health and with other council directorates to provide the balance of resource required. 

European Social Fund grant is also being sought but it will be limited to meeting only half the costs 
of any activity (the other half must be ‘matched’ by the applicants own resources) and is unlikely to 
provide the same level of resource per individual currently delivered for TESS customers (see 
section 5.1 for further details).

Option 2: Externalise the service through a form of Social Enterprise.

Various options for externalising the service through social enterprise have been explored, 
including Local Authority Trading Company, Charity Status and Community Interest Company 
(CIC).  Other supported employment deliverers, formerly under local authority control, have been 
consulted and visited.  Expert advice has been sought from the Coventry and Warwickshire Co-
operative Development Agency. There are a number of benefits to be achieved through social 
enterprise, such as widening the eligibility for grant programmes which the public sector cannot 
access and the potential to reduce bureaucracy.  However, the resource, timescales and security 
of funding for this option to be successful are significant and higher than the alternative options.  

There are both increased set-up and on-going costs such as premises, payroll, accountancy & HR 
support, legal fees, ICT and phones.  In addition, the new enterprise could have substantial TUPE 
and pension responsibilities for staff transferring to the new enterprise.  

Examples from Maidenhead, Kingston Borough London, Shropshire and elsewhere indicate that 
the success of externalising this type of provision is dependent on a long term commitment (3-5 
years) from the local authority to ‘commission’ the new enterprise at a similar level of expenditure.  
This allows the evolving organisation to establish effectively, develop its services and secure 
alternative income streams. Following this supported period the enterprise must be independent 
and sustainable through securing any relevant contracts, requiring a competitive structure and 
flexibility of approach, which may include changing the nature of services delivered in order to ‘win’ 
contracts.  

The current delivery model and salary structure would make it difficult for the TESS service to 
compete for grant and could significantly risk long term viability of the service.  In addition, a 
significantly larger resource would be needed to enable set-up and to meet on-going costs, such 
as premises. 

Following consultation with the Coventry & Warwickshire Community Development Agency and 
other former local authority deliverers, it is estimated that this option would require a 1 year 
implementation period followed by a minimum 3 year supported period.  The additional costs, 
length of implementation and the risk of failure in the long term prevent externalising the service 
being recommended as the preferred option at this time.  

Option 3: Merge the service with another local authority delivering supported employment 
provision 

This option considers the benefits and risks of merging the TESS service with other supported 
employment delivery, such as Warwickshire County Council’s WEST service (which is currently 
under review).  There are potential cost reductions, (e.g. management and support costs, joint 

Page 16



commissioning) but also significant variances in models of delivery which need further explorations 
before proposals could be developed.  In addition, Warwickshire County Council’s review of WEST 
will be complete and implemented in April 2016, meaning there is a discrepancy in timescales for 
developing joint solutions.  This could be addressed by extending the current TESS service to    
31st March 2016.  

Other local authorities within the Midlands Engine Combined Authority Region have been 
contacted regarding their supported employment delivery, but more detailed analysis and 
discussion is required.  As such the feasibility of pursuing this option is restricted by timescales.  

Option 4: Close the service on 31st December 2015 

If sufficient public sector resource cannot be secured then the service will close on 31st December 
2015.  Closure activity will need to commence on 1st October 2015 in order to achieve this 
timescale and not incur costs in 2016.  The potential impact of service closure includes redundancy 
for 7.2 FTE staff, withdrawal of service to approximately 100 current customers, a significant 
reduction in performance reported in the City Council’s Outcome Frameworks for this customer 
group, a complete withdrawal of employment support in the city for those with learning disability 
and a significant reduction for those with severe mental ill health.  In addition, this option runs 
counter to one of the key priorities of the Combined Authority Mental Health Commission and the 
preventative agenda around both mental health and disability.  

Appendix 1 gives further detail on each of the options described above. 
 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 A key element of reviewing the TESS service is to engage and consult with stakeholders and 
partners, and secure joint commitment with partners in its delivery. Dialogue with partners is 
on-going at a strategic level.  Numerous other supported employment deliverers across the 
country have also been consulted with and some visits have taken place.  

Relevant public consultation can take place once model of delivery is agreed and the 
associated investment is secured.   

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 The recommendation to pursue Option 1 set out in this paper can be implemented 
immediately.   

5. Comments from Executive Director of Resources

5.1 Financial implications

The service costs the council £332k p.a. £300k of this is staff costs. The service comprises of 7.2 
FTE staff, plus 2 council apprentices.  Each option requires a different level of resource to be 
secured.  Efficiencies of approximately £70,000 can be achieved with the preferred option (1) but 
cannot be delivered under option 2 and the costs associated with option 3 cannot be fully 
determined without further analysis with other local authorities.  

Page 17



TESS - Options analysis: Option 1
(Reduce 
cost and 
share)

£000’

Option 2
CIC

£000’

Option 3
Merge with 
other 
authority

£000’

Option 4
Close

£000’
Current Cost 332 332 332 332

Efficiencies / reductions (70) 0 0 (332)
Additional cost (in 1st year only to 
enable set up)

0 40 0 0

Revised cost of service 262 372 332 0
Secured funding 0 0 0 0
Resource gap 262 372 332 0
Potential Funding options:     

Bids already submitted (not 
approved):

    

ESIF YEI (amount relating to TESS) (66) (66) (66) 0

Revised funding gap 196 306 266 0
     
Other funding options being 
explored

 

Bids not yet submitted:  
CCG (not approved bid to be placed 
in 3rd week in Sept)

(200) (200) (200) 0

ESIF open calls - timing and 
amount not known (figure 
presented is an estimate)

(100) (100) (100) 0

Public Health 0 0 0 0
Other Core 0 0 0 0

The options in the table don’t include any costs of redundancy.

Option 1 gives the potential to significantly improve value for money both by serving a wider 
customer group and by delivering more preventative services.  However, the recommendation to 
pursue Option 1 requires public sector resource to be identified.  This needs to be secured by the 
end of September 2015.

It is worth noting that the TESS service delivers indirect cost reductions in other parts of the 
organisation (i.e. adult social care costs and general healthcare provision), however it is difficult to 
quantify these savings. 

The cost of delivering a job outcome for a TESS customer is £8,640.  This compares to 
approximately £400 per job outcome through the Job Shop, and reflects the significantly larger 
intervention required to support TESS customers into work.  The cost to the public purse of 
supporting an unemployed job seeker is £9,400. This rises significantly when supporting a TESS 
customer, according to the National Audit Report 2011 the average cost in welfare benefits for a 
person with learning disabilities is £15,000 per year, this excludes housing benefit, health and 
social care support costs which can be significant.

Page 18



There has been a national delay in approving the European Programme and the lack of on-going 
service budget which can be offered as ‘match’ has significantly reduced the potential grant 
available.  Current grant applications, using match from alternative sources, will provide additional 
services for this customer group, but will not replace an on-going budget.  Future applications for 
grant, which can be made later this year, may provide up to £100,000 of grant per annum for 2 
years initially, providing an equal budget is made available as ‘match’. However, it is likely the 
outcome of applications will not be known fully until March 2016. 
 
The table below shows a timeline of key decision points and the urgency of new funding to be 
identified to prevent service closure. 

5.2 Legal implications

Whilst local authorities have no statutory duty to provide supported employment provision, the 
Care Act 2014 places an expectation on Councils to both assess and provide work-related support.  
Under the Care Act, one of National Eligibility Criteria outcomes which has to be considered in a 
needs assessment is whether the individual can access and engage in work, training, education or 
volunteering. According to the statutory guidance: ‘Local authorities should consider whether the 
adult has an opportunity to apply themselves and contribute to society through work, training, 
education or volunteering subject to their own wishes in this regard. This includes physical access 
to any facility and support with participation in the relevant activity’. 

So where an adult has needs arising from/relating to a physical or mental impairment or illness, 
AND is unable to achieve this outcome relating to work (and at least one other from the 10 
specified outcomes), AND there is likely to be a significant impact on their wellbeing as a result, 
they will meet the eligibility criteria and the local authority will have to determine what care and 
support to provide in relation to the ‘work’outcome.

There are also implications in relation to the Children and Families Act 2014. Since the introduction 
of the act this has included reforms to Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) and there is 
an expectation that Education, Health and Care plans work together and are more aspirational and 
support people to live independently, gain employment where possible and are able to take part 
fully in their community. SEND applies between the ages of 0-25.

Page 19



There will need to be public consultation once a decision is made about the most suitable option or 
options if there will be an impact on service provision. Depending on the option chosen there may 
also need to be consultation with staff either in relation to redundancy to comply with the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 if Option 4 is pursued or in relation to a transfer to another employer 
under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 if Options 2 or 3 
are pursued. 

 6. Other implications

Whilst the TESS service is based and funded in Place Directorate, it is recognised that the service 
has an impact at a wider corporate level in terms of customers of the People Directorate. The 
service and budget was previously based in the People Directorate (Adult Social Care) and was 
transferred over in 2007 to bring the service closer to mainstream employment support services. 

The TESS service features prominently in the City Council’s Marmot Action Plan, led by Public 
Health. As a Marmot city focussed on tackling health inequalities the Council recognises that 
employment is one of the key elements in addressing deprivation and improving health outcomes. 

If the TESS service is closed then there would be a reduction in employment services for people 
with severe and enduring mental ill health and no employment service for adults eligible for Adult 
Social Care with a learning disability or autism who are judged by universal services to be 
unemployable. 

Developing the TESS service to become a pan-disability provision protects this most vulnerable 
group but also addresses unmet need (particularly around common mental health issues) and 
helps to improve outcomes, both for local residents and in terms of reporting performance outputs.  

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area Agreement 
(or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

The Jobs and Growth Strategy for Coventry is integral to the delivery of Coventry City 
Council's priorities within its Council Plan, Coventry A Top Ten City: Globally Connected and 
Locally Committed. One of the three objectives of the strategy is to “help people to get jobs”. 
Support for the most vulnerable groups to access employment opportunities is one of the 
priorities within this objective. 

Within the Coventry and Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership Strategic Economic Plan 
and European Investment Strategy, support for vulnerable groups is identified as a priority.  

Employment for people with long-term health conditions including learning disabilities and 
severe mental ill health are key performance indicators in the following Council outcome 
frameworks; Public Health Outcomes Framework, NHS Outcomes Framework and Adult 
Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF).  Coventry currently performs higher than the 
regional and national average in supporting people with severe mental health issues into 
work and lower than the regional and national average for the number of people with learning 
disabilities in work, albeit at a local level improvement has been seen year on year. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The Options Analysis Table provides an assessment of risk. Control measures for each risk 
will be detailed in the development of the full delivery model.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

Option 1, the preferred option will require a restructuring of the service and a reduction in 
staff. Any reduction in staff would involve Trade Union and staff consultation.  If the service is 

Page 20



closed then Trade Union and staff consultation would also take place and the council’s 
Security of Employment Agreement would apply.  

6.4 Equalities / EIA

On-going consideration will be given to equality impacts and consultation requirements as 
the delivery programme progresses and will help to shape the detailed delivery model. It is 
worth noting that TESS provides support for a vulnerable customer group and either 
removing or reducing the service will have significant implications for people with a learning 
disability or severe & enduring mental ill health. As a result of this an Equality Impact 
Assessment will be carried out to consider how the option or options chosen will impact on 
those with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment  
None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations

Reducing or changing supported employment for a vulnerable customer group has potentially 
significant impacts on partner organisations, particularly for advice agencies and other third sector 
organisations. The Council is in regular contact with partner organisations to ensure they are kept 
informed of potential changes and it is expected that these organisations will respond to the public
consultation on the preferred option.

Page 21



Report author(s):
Rebecca Young, Economy & Jobs Manager, Place Directorate
Kim Mawby, Employment Manager, Place Directorate 

Name and job title: 

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
026 76833776 Rebecca.young@coventry.gov.uk 
024 76831349 Kim.mawby@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Mark Williams Lead Accountant, 

Business Partner 
Place

Resources 13/8/15 14/8/15

Pete Fahy Assistant Director People 13/8/15 17/08/15

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and Members)
Phil Helm Finance Manager Resources 13/8/15 13/8/15

Julie Sprayson Senior Solicitor Resources 13/8/15 17/8/15
Suzanne Bennett Governance Services 

Co-ordinator
Resources 19/8/15 19/8/15

Jaz Bilen Human Resources 
Manager

Resources 13/8/15 13/8/15

Martin Yardley Executive Director Place 18/8/15 20/8/15

Councillor K Maton Cabinet Member for 
Business, Enterprise 
and Employment

Place 24/08/15 24/08/15

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 22

mailto:Rebecca.young@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Kim.mawby@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Appendix 1. The Employment Support Service (TESS): Options Analysis 

OPTION OPTION DETAIL RESOURCES TIMESCALES BENEFITS RISK NEXT STEPS
Develop a 
sustainable 
model of 
supported 
employment 

 Create a city-wide 
vision for supported 
employment, 
developed with the 
investment of 
partners.  

 A clearly defined role 
for the City Council 
and partners in 
steering future 
delivery.  

 Widen eligibility to 
include preventative 
work (reducing other 
public budgets such as 
ASC) & to address 
unmet need, creating 
a pan-disability 
service 

 Minimum of 
£262,056 needs to 
be secured (this 
assumes a reduction 
in budget through 
efficiencies & a 
smaller number of 
posts) 

 A request for 
£150,000 - £200,000 
p.a. (for 3 years) has 
been made to the 
CCG

 The balance of 
funding required to 
be made available 
from Coventry City 
Council resources 

 A model for 
effective delivery, 
with improved value 
for money, better 
outcomes and lower 
costs has been 
developed.  This will 
require 3-6 months 
to implement with 
minimal disruption 
to service during 
transformation

 The request for 
investment will not 
formally be heard by 
the CCG until the 
Adult Joint 
Commissioning 
Board meets in late 
September.  

 A core budget will allow 
us to bid for European 
Social Fund grant to 
boost the resource for 
vulnerable customers

 Improved performance 
outputs reflecting both 
a more efficient 
delivery model and 
changed eligibility 
criteria 

 Strengthening of front-
line capacity and 
delivery 

 Develops the service & 
widens eligibility  to 
address unmet need in 
the city 

 Streamlined 
management & systems 

 Reduced costs 
 Financial investment by 

partners 
 Clear partnership 

responsibility for 
supporting the service 
in the long term 

 Retains the service in-
house allowing  further 
efficiencies through 
embedding the service 
within the wider-
Employment Team 
(rather than as a stand-
alone provision) 

 The CCG will not 
approve the request 
or the level of 
investment will be 
lower than 
anticipated 

 Not securing the 
remainder of funds 
from either CCC or 
another partner

 Future savings targets 

 Informal 
discussions 
are taking 
place with 
key CCG 
personnel in 
advance of 
the Sept 
Board 

 Other partner 
investment, 
including CCC 
needs to be 
made 
available 

 A delivery 
model needs 
to be drawn 
up in full and 
consulted 
upon in 
accordance 
with the 
Statutory 
Best Value 
Guidance 

P
age 23



OPTION OPTION DETAIL RESOURCES TIMESCALES BENEFITS RISK NEXT STEPS
Externalise 
the service

 ‘Spin’ the service out 
of the local authority 
as a form of social 
enterprise.  A 
Community Interest 
Company (CIC) 
appears to be the 
most relevant model.

 Support the new 
enterprise to establish 
effectively and 
commence trading  

 There are increased 
resources required 
for this option due 
to a) the length of 
time required to 
establish a CIC and 
b) additional costs 
the service currently 
isn’t accountable for 
(e.g. premises, legal 
costs, IT, phones, 
payroll, accountancy 
services etc) 

 Additional costs to 
CWCDA to support 
set-up

 Minimum of 
£372,056 needs to 
be secured p.a. for a 
minimum period of 
3 years to allow the 
new enterprise to 
establish itself (this 
amount could 
potentially be 
tapered down each 
year)

 Investigations with 
other CICs and with 
CWCDA have led to 
the 
recommendation 
that TESS would 
need a period of up 
to 1 year to transfer 
from CCC to a CIC

 The CCC would need 
to retain 
commitment to 
both commissioning 
the service for a 
minimum of 3 years 
and potentially act 
as guarantor during 
this timeframe 

 Increased flexibility of 
systems 

 Ability to bid for a wider 
range of grants (e.g. Big 
Lottery) 

 Potentially able to 
develop and expand the 
service in the future 

 CCC would have no 
further commitment to 
this service beyond the 
set-up and 
commissioning period 

 Staff preferences may 
be to take redundancy 
rather than remain 
with the service 

 TUPE issues and 
pension commitments 
could represent a 
significant financial 
burden for many 
years 

 Long term viability of 
the service and ability 
to attract grant may 
be restricted (with 
salaries significantly 
higher than 
competitor and 
comparative services) 

 Potential lack of 
flexible leadership, 
able to respond to 
changes in the market 

 Risk of ‘mission drift’ 
from original purpose 
& employment 
delivery in order to 
secure grants 

 Risk of CIC failure and 
complete withdrawal 
of provision for this 
customer group 

 Identification 
of investment 
to support 
this option –
for example, 
use of CCG 
grant (as 
above) 

 A mechanism 
to 
commission 
TESS for an 
initial 3 year 
period would 
need to be 
developed 

 Development 
of a business 
case & 
project plan

 Various 
activities 
including CIC 
registration, 
financial 
plans, 
securing 
premises etc 

  A delivery 
model needs 
to be drawn 
up in full and 
consulted 
upon in 
accordance 
with the 
Statutory 
Best Value 
Guidance 

P
age 24



OPTION OPTION DETAIL RESOURCES TIMESCALES BENEFITS RISK NEXT STEPS
Merge the 
service with 
another local 
authority 
supported 
employment 
provision 

 Merging the service 
with another 
provision such as 
Warwickshire County 
Council’s WEST 
service.

 Investigate the 
viability of merger 
with other local 
authority services in 
the combined 
authority area 

 Develop a proposal 
for potential merger 
which outline benefits 
and potential 
efficiencies 

 Options of retaining 
supported 
employment in the 
public sector, 
externalising and 
commissioning need 
to be analysed.

 Minimum of 
£332,056 likely to be 
required 

 WCC currently 
reviewing WEST and 
will implement 
decision April 16.  

 Potential reduction in 
staff costs as fewer 
posts required (e.g. one 
manager) 

 Potential reduction in 
commissioning costs as 
Local Authorities free to 
jointly commission

 This is a high priority for 
the Combined 
Authority’s Mental 
Health Commission 

 Service delivery 
differences causing 
delays in 
implementation 

 Lack of appetite for 
joint solution across 
local authorities 

 Differing timescales 
for service review and 
decision 
implementation 

 Agree a 
potential 
proposal with 
WCC

 Consult other 
local 
authorities 

 The current 
TESS service 
would need 
to be 
extended to 
end of March 
16 & funding 
secured for 
this 

 A delivery 
model needs 
to be drawn 
up in full and 
consulted 
upon in 
accordance 
with the 
Statutory 
Best Value 
Guidance 

P
age 25



OPTION OPTION DETAIL RESOURCES TIMESCALES BENEFITS RISK NEXT STEPS
Close the 
service 

 Close the service on 
31 December 2015 

 7.2 FTE redundancies 
 Withdrawal of 

support to 
approximately 100 
customers currently 
being supported 
through the service 

 Withdrawal of 
support to local 
employers relying on 
the service to sustain 
vulnerable people in 
posts 

 Within current 
budget allocation 

 Commence closure 
(informing 
customers, partners 
etc / giving notice to 
staff) from 1 
October 2015 

 Full closure of 
service by 31 
December 2015 

 No on-going CCC 
budget commitment 

 ASCOF Framework 
national outputs 
reported by ASC 
significantly reduced 

 Negative impact on 
the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework 
& the NHS Outcomes 
Framework

 No service for 
customers with a 
learning disability 

 Significantly reduced 
service for customers 
with severe and 
enduring mental ill 
health 

 Reduction in current 
development work to 
support adults with 
autism into 
employment 

 This option runs 
counter to the key 
priorities of the 
Mental Health 
Commission 
(Combined 
Authorities) and to 
the preventative 
agenda which reduces 
the likelihood of 
vulnerable people 
relying on social care 
and mental health 
services by promoting 
independence 

 Service 
closure needs 
to commence 
1 October 
2015 to meet 
the current 
deadline / 
budget 
restrictions 

P
age 26



 Public report
Cabinet Member Report

                                                                                                                       7 September, 2015

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment – Councillor Maton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title:
Outstanding Issues Report

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The City Council has adopted an Outstanding Minutes System, linked to the Forward Plan, to 
ensure that follow up reports can be monitored and reported to Members. The attached appendix 
sets out a table detailing the issues on which further reports have been requested by the Cabinet 
Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment so he is aware of them and can monitor 
progress. 

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Employment is requested to consider the list 
of outstanding issues and to ask the Member of the Strategic Management Board or appropriate 
officer to explain the current position on those which should have been discharged at this 
meeting or an earlier meeting.

List of Appendices included:

Table of Outstanding Issues.

Other useful background papers:

None

Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



2

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Report author(s): 
Suzanne Bennett

Name and job title:
Governance Services Officer

Directorate:
Resources

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 3072  
E-mail: Suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:

Other members Not applicable

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members)
Finance: Name Not applicable
Legal: Name Not applicable

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 28

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


Subject Date for Further 
Consideration

Responsible Officer Proposed 
Amendment to Date 
for Consideration

Reason for Request to 
Delay Submission of Report

*1 Save The Employment Support 
Service

Further report on options to be 
submitted

(Cabinet Member for Business, 
Enterprise and Employment , 20 July, 
2015 – Minute 6/15 refers) 

September, 
2015

Executive Director of 
Place

*There is a report on the agenda relating to this issue

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 The Employment Support Service (TESS)
	5 Outstanding Issues

